Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada License Disclaimer

This Act is Current to August 19, 2015

This Act has "Not in Force" sections. See the Table of Legislative Changes.

SOCIETY ACT

[RSBC 1996] CHAPTER 433

Contents

1 Definitions

Part 1 — Incorporation

- 2 Purposes
- 3 Procedure for incorporation
- 4 Effect of incorporation
- 5 Liability of members
- 6 Bylaws
- 7 Voting
- 8 No share capital
- 9 Interest not transferable
- 10 Address for service
- 11 Location of records
- 12 Service of documents
- 13 Seal
- 14 Insurance purposes
- 14.1 Consent by commission
- 15 Repealed
- 16 Contracts
- 17 Amalgamation of societies
- 18 Branch societies
- 19 Incorporation of branch societies

Part 2 — Changes in Constitution and Bylaws

- 20 Changes in constitution
- 21 Effect of change of name
- 22 Additional provisions of constitution
- 23 Change in bylaws

Part 3 — Directors

- 24 Directors
- 25 Duties of directors
- 25.1 Proceedings of directors
- 26 No exceptions from statutory duties
- 27 Disclosure of interests
- 28 Accountability
- 29 Validity of contracts
- 30 Security and indemnity of officers and directors
- 31 Removal of directors

Part 4 — Financial

- 32 Investment of society's funds
- 33 Deposit accounts
- 34 Subsidiaries
- 35 Borrowing
- 35.1 Register of indebtedness
- 35.2 Preferential payment of wages and salary
- 36 Accounting records
- 37 Inspection by members
- 38 Reporting society
- 39 Providing financial statements
- 40 Approval by directors

Part 5 — Audit

- 41 Auditor
- 42 Professional qualifications
- 43 Persons not qualified as auditors
- 44 Remuneration
- 45 Incumbent auditor
- 46 Removal of auditor
- 47 Annual audit
- 48 Member may require auditor at meeting
- 49 Inquiries of auditor
- 50 Reading report
- 51 Amendment of financial statements and report
- 52 Access to records
- 53 Powers of auditor
- 54 Right to attend
- 55 Defamation

Part 6 — Members and Meetings

- 56 Annual general meeting
- 57 Place of meeting

- 58 Requisition for general meeting
- 59 Court may call
- 60 Notice
- 61 Quorum
- 62 Voting
- 63 Proxies
- 64 Financial statements
- 65 Financial statements for reporting societies
- 66 Special resolutions
- 67 Other resolutions
- 68 Filing annual report
- 69 Copies of constitution and bylaws
- 70 Register of members

Part 7 — Conversion of a Society

- 71-73 Repealed
- 74 Conversion to company

Part 8 — Extraprovincial Societies

- 75 Extraprovincial society registration
- 76 Procedure for registration
- 77 Attorney for service
- 78 Return to registrar
- 79 Suspension and revocation of registration
- 80 Agents prohibited
- 81 Limitations on unregistered extraprovincial society
- 82 Application

Part 9 — Special Procedures

- 83 Imperfect compliance
- 84 Investigation of society
- 85 Court may remedy irregularities

Part 10 — Occupational Titles Protection

- 86 Definition
- 87 Application of Part
- 88 Registration
- 88.1 Registration applications prohibited
- 89 Effect of registration
- 90 Injunction
- 91 Cancellation by registrar
- 92 Other remedies not affected
- 93 Repealed

Part 11 — General

- 94 Repealed
- 94.1 Registrar has no obligation to ensure accuracy or compliance
- 95 Inspection and copies of documents
- 95.1 Remedies on denial of copies
- 96 Appeals
- 97 Hearings
- 98 Fees
- 99 Power to make regulations
- 100 Application of Act

Part 12 — Cancellation, Winding Up, Dissolution and Restoration

Division 1 — Cancellation by Lieutenant Governor in Council

101 Lieutenant Governor in Council may cancel incorporation

Division 2 — Dissolution and Cancellation by Registrar

- 102 Dissolutions and cancellations of registrations by registrar
- 103 Dissolution by request
- 104 Defunct extraprovincial society

Division 3 — Voluntary Winding Up

- 105 Voluntary winding up requires special resolution
- 106 Solvency of society
- 107 Commencement of voluntary winding up
- 108 Appointment of liquidator

Division 4 — Winding Up by Court Order

- 109 Winding up by court order
- 110 Court may wind up society on application of member
- 111 Commencement of winding up by court order
- 112 Court must appoint liquidator

Division 5 — Liquidators

- 113 Qualifications of liquidator
- 114 Resignation and removal of liquidator
- 115 Liquidator ceasing to act must file notice
- 116 Filling vacancy in office of liquidator
- 117 Remuneration of liquidator
- 118 Validity of acts of liquidator
- 119 Filing and publication of notice of appointment

Division 6 — Conduct of Winding Up

- 120 Effect of resolution or order for winding up
- 121 Meeting of creditors
- 122 Creditor must commence action on claim

- 123 Custody of property
- 124 Powers of liquidator
- 125 Society with insurance purposes
- 126 Sale of society for shares or debentures
- 127 Powers of court
- 128 Duty to assist liquidator
- 129 Final meeting and dissolution
- 130 Dissolution on completion of winding up
- 131 Unclaimed or undistributed assets
- 132 Disposal of books and papers of society
- 133 Discharge by court order

Division 7 — Disposal of Assets

134 Disposal of assets

Division 8 — After Dissolution

- 135 Liabilities survive
- 136 Publication

Division 9 — Restoration

- 137 Restoration to register
- 138 Power of court
- 139 Change of name on restoration
- 140 Filing and publication
- 141 Escheat

Part 13 - Offences

142 Offences

Schedule A

Schedule B

Schedule C

Definitions

1 In this Act:

"auditor" has the same meaning as in section 1 (1) of the *Business* Corporations Act;

"business" means an activity that produces taxable income under the *Income*Tax Act;

"bylaws" means the bylaws of a society;

"commission" means the Financial Institutions Commission established under

the Financial Institutions Act;

"constitution" means

- (a) the constitution established for a society under this or the former Act, and
- (b) with respect to a society that was subject to the original Act, the declaration for incorporation of that society, or other similar document;

- "debenture" has the same meaning as in the Business Corporations Act;
- "debt obligation" means a bond, debenture, note or other similar obligation, whether secured or unsecured, of a society;
- "director" includes a trustee, officer, member of an executive committee and a person occupying any such position by whatever name;
- "document" means a written instrument, including a notice, order, certificate, register, letter, report, return, account, summons or legal process;
- "existing society" means a society to which the former Act applied and that was in existence on January 5, 1978;
- "extraprovincial society" means a society or association, incorporated or otherwise, formed outside British Columbia, and includes a branch of that society or association, but does not include a society or association, incorporated or otherwise, formed to acquire profit or gain or that has a capital divided into shares;
- "**filed**" has the same meaning as in the *Business Corporations Act*, and, for that purpose, section 408 of that Act applies;
- "former Act" means the Societies Act, S.B.C. 1947, c. 82, the Societies Act, R.S.B.C. 1948, c. 311, or the Societies Act, R.S.B.C. 1960, c. 362;

"member" means

- (a) an applicant for incorporation of a society who has not ceased to be a member, and
- (b) every other person who becomes and remains a member in accordance with the bylaws;

[&]quot;court" means the Supreme Court;

[&]quot;mortgage" includes a secured debt obligation;

[&]quot;ordinary resolution" means

(a) a resolution passed in a general meeting by the members of a society by a simple majority of the votes cast in person or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy,

- (b) a resolution that has been submitted to the members of a society and consented to in writing by 75% of the members who would have been entitled to vote on it in person or by proxy at a general meeting of the society, and a resolution so consented to is deemed to be an ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting of the society, or
- (c) if a society has adopted a system of indirect or delegate voting or voting by mail, a resolution passed by a simple majority of votes cast in respect of the resolution;

"original Act" means the Societies Act, S.B.C. 1920, c. 83, the Societies Act, R.S.B.C. 1924, c. 236, or the Societies Act, R.S.B.C. 1936, c. 265;

"registrar" means the Registrar of Companies;

"reporting society" means a society that

- (a) is, by its bylaws or by an ordinary resolution filed with the registrar, declared to be a reporting society,
- (b) is carrying on insurance business as defined in the *Financial Institutions Act*,
- (c) requires a consent under section 2 (1) (a), (b) or (d) or section 20 as a condition precedent to incorporation or changing its constitution,
- (d) is ordered to be a reporting society under section 38,
- (e) is a holding corporation for the purposes of the *Business Corporations Act*, or
- (f) became an amalgamated society after January 4, 1978 if one of the amalgamating societies was, at the time of the amalgamation, a reporting society,

unless the registrar under the regulations orders that it is not a reporting society;

"society" means a society incorporated under this Act, and includes an existing society;

"special resolution" means

(a) a resolution passed in a general meeting by a majority of not less than 75% of the votes of those members of a society who, being entitled

to do so, vote in person or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy

- (i) of which the notice that the bylaws provide, and not being less than 14 days' notice, specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution has been given, or
- (ii) if every member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting agrees, at a meeting of which less than 14 days' notice has been given,
- (b) a resolution consented to in writing by every member of a society who would have been entitled to vote on it in person or, if proxies are allowed, by proxy at a general meeting of the society, and a resolution so consented to is deemed to be a special resolution passed at a general meeting of the society,
- (c) if a society has adopted a system of indirect or delegate voting or voting by mail, a resolution passed by at least 75% of the votes cast in respect of the resolution, or
- (d) an extraordinary resolution passed before January 5, 1978;
- "subscription" includes a fee, due, assessment or other similar sum payable by a member under the bylaws;

"subsidiary" has the same meaning as in the Business Corporations Act.

Part 1 — Incorporation

Purposes

- 2 (1) A society may be incorporated under this Act for any lawful purpose or purposes such as national, patriotic, religious, philanthropic, charitable, provident, scientific, fraternal, benevolent, artistic, educational, social, professional, agricultural, sporting or other useful purposes, but not for any of the following:
 - (a) the operation of a boarding home, orphanage or other institution for minors, or the supplying of any other form of care for minors without the written consent of the director designated under the *Child, Family and Community Service Act* for the purposes of this section;
 - (b) the ownership, management or operation of a hospital without the written consent of the minister responsible for the administration of the *Hospital Act*;
 - (c) [Repealed 2004-27-2.]

(d) the purpose of paying benefits or rendering services as described in section 14 without the written consent of the commission;

- (e) any purpose without the consent of an existing society should the registrar require it;
- (f) the purpose of carrying on a business, trade, industry or profession for profit or gain.
- (2) Carrying on a business, trade, industry or profession as an incident to the purposes of a society is not prohibited by this section, but a society must not distribute any gain, profit or dividend or otherwise dispose of its assets to a member of the society without receiving full and valuable consideration except during winding up or on dissolution and then only as permitted by section 134.

Procedure for incorporation

- **3** (1) Five or more persons may form a society by
 - (a) filing with the registrar
 - (i) an original, signed by all applicants, and a copy of the constitution and bylaws of the proposed society in the form established by the registrar,
 - (ii) a list, in the form established by the registrar, of persons who will be the first directors of the society, stating their full names and resident addresses, and
 - (iii) a notice of the address of the proposed society in the form established by the registrar, and
 - (b) submitting to the registrar, with the documents referred to in paragraph (a), the prescribed fee.
 - (2) If the purposes of the proposed society do not appear to the registrar to be authorized by this Act or to be sufficiently set out, the registrar may require, as a prerequisite to incorporation, that they be altered accordingly.
 - (3) If
- (a) no consent is required by law as a condition precedent to incorporation or the use of a name, or the consent has been obtained,
- (b) the constitution of the proposed society appears to the registrar to comply with this Act,
- (c) the name of the proposed society is reserved under Division 2 of Part 2 of the *Business Corporations Act* as it applies for the purposes of this Act, and

(d) a prerequisite under subsection (2) has been fulfilled, the registrar must incorporate the society by issuing a certificate showing that the society is incorporated.

- (4) On incorporation of a society, the registrar must
 - (a) retain and register one copy of the constitution and bylaws and return the other copy to the applicants, certified as having been registered by the registrar, and
 - (b) publish a notice of the incorporation in the prescribed manner.
- (5) A certificate of incorporation given by the registrar for a society is conclusive proof that the requirements of this Act in respect of incorporation have been complied with and that the society is incorporated under this Act.
- (6) Division 2 of Part 2 of the *Business Corporations Act* applies in respect of the name of
 - (a) a society that is or may be incorporated under this Act, or
 - (b) an extraprovincial society that is or may be registered under this Act.

Effect of incorporation

- **4** (1) From the date of the certificate of incorporation, the members of a society are members of a corporation
 - (a) with the name contained in the certificate,
 - (b) having perpetual succession,
 - (c) with the right to a seal, and
 - (d) with the powers and capacity of a natural person of full capacity as may be required to pursue its purposes.
 - (2) The powers referred to in subsection (1) include but are not limited to the following powers:
 - (a) to buy, sell, exchange, develop and mortgage property;
 - (b) to borrow money and give security for it and secure or purchase money obligations;
 - (c) to issue negotiable instruments;
 - (d) to receive and make gifts;
 - (e) to enter contracts and leases;
 - (f) to employ persons;

(g) to belong to other societies or associations, whether or not incorporated, with similar purposes or purposes beneficial to the society.

- (3) A society may sue and be sued, contract and be contracted with, in its corporate name.
- (4) A certificate issued by the president, secretary or a director of a society stating that the intended exercise by the society of a power described in the certificate is for a purpose of the society stated or summarized in the certificate is, as between the person to whom the certificate is issued and any other person, including the society, and past, present and future members or creditors of the society, conclusive proof of the truth of the matters set out in the certificate if the person to whom the certificate is issued acts on it in good faith and within a reasonable time.

Liability of members

5 A member of a society is not, in the member's individual capacity, liable for a debt or liability of the society.

Bylaws

- **6** (1) The bylaws of a society incorporated under this Act must contain provisions for the following:
 - (a) the admission of members, their rights and obligations and when they cease to be in good standing;
 - (b) the conditions under which membership ceases and the manner, if any, in which a member may be expelled;
 - (c) the procedure for calling general meetings;
 - (d) the rights of voting at general meetings, whether proxy voting is allowed, and if proxy voting is allowed, provisions for it;
 - (e) the appointment and removal of directors and officers and their duties, powers and remuneration, if any;
 - (f) the exercise of borrowing powers;
 - (g) the preparation and custody of minutes of meetings of the society and directors.
 - (2) Subject to subsection (1), the bylaws of a society may be in the form of Schedule B or a modified form or another form altogether.

Voting

7 (1) A voting member of a society has only one vote, and, despite any contrary

provision in the bylaws, may exercise that vote on every matter without restrictions.

- (2) A society may have non-voting members but their number must not exceed the number of voting members.
- (3) The registrar may, by order, and on the terms and conditions the registrar considers appropriate
 - (a) [Repealed 2004-27-4.]
 - (b) exempt a society or class of societies from the limitation on the number of non-voting members in subsection (2).
- (4) [Repealed 2004-27-4.]
- (5) Subject to the bylaws, a person under the age of 19 years
 - (a) may be admitted as a member of a society,
 - (b) may be appointed to an office in the society, and
 - (c) is liable for the payment of a subscription as if the person were of full age.
- (6) Subject to the bylaws, a corporation admitted to membership in a society may be represented by a person authorized on behalf of the corporation.

No share capital

8 A society must not have a capital divided into shares.

Interest not transferable

9 Except as provided in the bylaws, the interest of a member in a society is not transferable.

Address for service

- **10** (1) A society must
 - (a) have an address in British Columbia to which all communications and notices may be sent and at which all process may be served, and
 - (b) file with the registrar a notice of change of address, in the form established by the registrar, for every change of address.
 - (2) A change of address has effect on the day after the notice referred to in subsection (1) (b) is filed.

Location of records

11 (1) The directors of a society must ensure that all documents of a society including its financial records are kept at the address of the society.

- (2) Despite subsection (1), the directors of a society may by resolution permit some of the documents, including its financial records, to be kept at places in British Columbia other than the address of the society.
- (3) A resolution passed under subsection (2) must describe the documents to which it applies and the place they are to be kept.
- (4) A resolution passed under subsection (2) has no effect until a copy of it is filed with the registrar.

Service of documents

- **12** A document may be served on a society by
 - (a) leaving it at, or mailing it by registered mail to, the address of the society as filed under this Act, or
 - (b) personally serving a director, officer, receiver manager or liquidator of the society, or, in the case of an extraprovincial society, the attorney.

Seal

- 13 (1) If a society adopts a seal, the seal must bear the name of the society.
 - (2) A society may adopt a new seal at any time.
 - (3) The seal of a society may be reproduced by a rubber stamp, an impression seal or other convenient means.

Insurance purposes

- **14** (1) Unless it has the written consent of the commission, a society must not adopt a purpose of
 - (a) making life insurance contracts,
 - (b) making contracts for the payment of funeral benefits or relief, or
 - (c) paying benefits or rendering services in the event of an accident, sickness or disability or by way of pensions or annuities.
 - (2) A society must not have a purpose of providing for benefits or compensation for loss of or damage to property.
 - (3) The commission must not consent under subsection (1) unless the commission
 - (a) believes on reasonable grounds that it is in the public interest to

consent,

(b) is satisfied that the proposed bylaws of the society are fair and the plan of the society is reasonable, and

(c) is satisfied that the society will be issued a business authorization under the *Financial Institutions Act*.

Consent by commission

- **14.1** Despite section 14, if a society is exempt, and continues to be exempt, from the requirement to obtain a business authorization under the *Financial Institutions Act*, the commission must consent to the following:
 - (a) the adoption by the society of a purpose under section 14 (1);
 - (b) a change in the purposes of the society under section 20;
 - (c) a change in the bylaws of the society under section 23.

Repealed

15 [Repealed 2004-27-6.]

Contracts

- **16** (1) Contracts on behalf of a society may be made as follows:
 - (a) a contract that, if made between natural persons, would be, by law, required to be in writing and under seal, may be made on behalf of the society in writing under the seal of the society, and may be varied or discharged in the same manner;
 - (b) a contract that, if made between natural persons, would be, by law, required to be in writing, signed by the person to be charged, may be made on behalf of the society in writing signed by a person acting under its authority, express or implied, and may be varied or discharged in the same manner;
 - (c) a contract that, if made between natural persons, would, by law, be valid although made orally and not reduced into writing, may be made in a similar manner on behalf of the society by a person acting under its authority, express or implied, and may be varied or discharged in the same manner.
 - (2) A contract made, varied or discharged in accordance with this section is, so far as concerns its form, effectual in law and binding on the society and all other parties to it.

(3) A bill of exchange or promissory note is deemed to have been made, accepted or endorsed on behalf of a society, if made, accepted or endorsed in the name of, or by or on behalf of or on account of the society by a person acting under its authority, express or implied.

Amalgamation of societies

- 17 (1) Unless one or more of them is a grandfathered insurance society as defined in section 200 of the *Financial Institutions Act*, 2 or more societies may apply to amalgamate and form a new society by sending the registrar copies, in duplicate, of the special resolutions that authorize their respective directors
 - (a) to jointly sign a constitution and bylaws in the form established by the registrar for the purposes of this section, and
 - (b) to comply in other respects with section 3.
 - (2) Provisions of this Act that apply to the incorporation of a society apply to the amalgamation of 2 or more societies as if the amalgamation were the incorporation of the amalgamated society.
 - (3) After the issue of a certificate of incorporation to the new society, the former societies are dissolved, and all property and rights of those societies pass to and vest in the new society without further act or deed.
 - (4) An amalgamation under this section does not adversely affect the rights of a creditor of a former society, and the new society is liable for all debts and obligations of the former societies.
 - (5) On production of the required evidence, the estate and interest of the former societies in land registered under the *Land Title Act* must be registered in the name of the new society, but the new society is exempt from the payment of fees calculated according to the value of that estate or interest.

Branch societies

- **18** (1) A society may, if authorized by its bylaws, establish and maintain one or more branch societies with the powers, not exceeding the powers of the society, that the society confers.
 - (2) If a society establishes a branch society, it must without delay send the registrar a notice setting out the following:
 - (a) the date the branch society was established;
 - (b) the branch's name, location and powers;
 - (c) the other information the registrar requires.

(3) Subsection (1) does not apply to a society whose purposes include operating a social club.

- (4) Without the consent in writing of the registrar, a branch society must not use a name other than the name of the society that established the branch society together with
 - (a) words describing the geographical location of the branch society or other distinguishing words, and
 - (b) the word "Branch".
- (5) If a branch society ceases to exist, the society that established it must without delay send the registrar a notice setting out the following:
 - (a) the name and location of the branch;
 - (b) the date the branch ceased to exist;
 - (c) the other information the registrar requires.

Incorporation of branch societies

- 19 (1) If a branch of a society or extraprovincial society wishes to be incorporated under this Act, it must, in addition to any other requirement of this Act, file with the registrar a certificate under the seal, if any, of that society consenting to the incorporation, and must comply with any term or condition mentioned in the certificate.
 - (2) A branch society so incorporated must not exercise a power conferred on a society under this Act, without first obtaining the written consent of that society, if the exercise of that power is prohibited by or in conflict with
 - (a) the constitution or bylaws of the society to which it belongs, or
 - (b) a term or condition of the certificate filed under subsection (1).
 - (3) If the certificate filed under subsection (1) so provides, the constitution and bylaws of the branch society are deemed to include
 - (a) the constitution and bylaws of the society giving the certificate, or
 - (b) the portion of the constitution and bylaws mentioned in the certificate,

but the powers of a branch society must never exceed the powers conferred on a society under this Act.

Part 2 — Changes in Constitution and Bylaws

Changes in constitution

- 20 (1) By special resolution, a society may
 - (a) change its name, or
 - (b) change its purposes so as to include a new purpose that may conveniently or advantageously be combined with the existing purposes of the society, or so as to restrict or abandon a purpose specified in the constitution, but a charitable purpose referred to in section 134 (3) must not be abandoned.
 - (2) A resolution under subsection (1) does not take effect
 - (a) unless the registrar approves,
 - (a.1) in the case of a change of name, unless the new name is reserved under Division 2 of Part 2 of the *Business Corporations Act* as it applies for the purposes of this Act, and
 - (b) if the new purpose or an existing purpose is one referred to in section 2 (1) (a), (b), (d) or (e), unless the consent of the person named in that paragraph is obtained.
 - (3) If the registrar approves a special resolution changing the name of a society, the registrar must issue a certificate under the registrar's seal of office setting out particulars of the change of name.
 - (4) If a society fails to comply with a requirement of this Act, the registrar may refuse to issue a certificate under this section.
 - (5) A certificate issued by the registrar under this section is conclusive proof that this section has been complied with.
 - (6) A society incorporated under the original Act has the power, subject to subsection (2), to change or rescind, by special resolution, any other provision of its declaration.

Effect of change of name

- **21** A change of name of a society does not
 - (a) affect any right or obligation of the society, or
 - (b) render defective legal proceedings by or against the society,

and a legal proceeding that might have been continued or commenced against the society under its former name may be continued or commenced against it under its new name.

Additional provisions of constitution

- **22** (1) If the constitution of a society contains a provision other than the statement of its name and purposes, the constitution must state whether or not the provision may be altered, and the provision is alterable or not as stated in the constitution.
 - (2) If it is not stated that a provision is unalterable, it is alterable.
 - (3) A provision that is alterable may be altered by a special resolution.
 - (4) A society may, by special resolution, add to its constitution a provision, other than the statement of its name and purposes, and this section applies to that provision.

Change in bylaws

- **23** (1) A society may change its bylaws by special resolution and the resolution is effective on the later of
 - (a) the date on which it is filed with the registrar, and
 - (b) the date specified in the resolution.
 - (2) After a special resolution is filed with the registrar under subsection (1), the registrar must retain one copy of it and return the other copy to the society, certified as having been accepted by the registrar.
 - (3) The registrar must refuse to file a special resolution referred to in subsection
 - (1) that is passed by a society referred to in section 2 (1) (b) or (d) unless written consent to the filing has been provided,
 - (a) in the case of a society referred to in section 2 (1) (b), by the Minister of Health Services, or
 - (b) in the case of a society referred to in section 2 (1) (d), by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions.

Part 3 — Directors

Directors

- **24** (1) The members of a society may, in accordance with the bylaws, nominate, elect or appoint directors.
 - (2) Subject to this Act and the constitution and bylaws of the society, the directors
 - (a) must manage, or supervise the management of, the affairs of the society, and

- (b) may exercise all of the powers of the society.
- (3) A limitation or restriction on the powers or functions of the directors is not effective against a person who does not know of the limitation or restriction.
- (4) A society must have at least 3 directors.
- (5) At least one of the directors of a society must be ordinarily resident in British Columbia.
- (6) The first directors are those named in the list of first directors filed with the registrar.
- (7) Notice of a change of directors of a society must be filed with the registrar, without delay, in the form established by the registrar.
- (8) If a society has less than 3 members for more than 6 months, each director is personally liable for payment of every debt of the society incurred after the expiration of the 6 months and for so long as the number of members continues to be less than 3.

Duties of directors

- **25** (1) A director of a society must
 - (a) act honestly and in good faith and in the best interests of the society, and
 - (b) exercise the care, diligence and skill of a reasonably prudent person, in exercising the powers and performing the functions as a director.
 - (2) The requirements of this section are in addition to, and not in derogation of, an enactment or rule of law or equity relating to the duties or liabilities of directors of a society.

Proceedings of directors

- **25.1** (1) A director who is entitled to do one or both of participate in and vote at a meeting of directors or of a committee of directors may participate or vote, as the case may be,
 - (a) in person, or
 - (b) unless the bylaws provide otherwise, by telephone or other communications medium if all directors participating in the meeting, whether by telephone, by other communications medium or in person, are able to communicate with each other.
 - (2) A director who participates in a meeting in a manner contemplated by

subsection (1) is deemed for all purposes of this Act and the bylaws to be present at the meeting.

No exceptions from statutory duties

- **26** Nothing in a contract, the constitution or the bylaws, or the circumstances of a director's appointment, relieves a director
 - (a) from the duty to act in accordance with this Act and the regulations, or
 - (b) from a liability that by a rule of law would otherwise attach to the director in respect of negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust of which the director may be guilty in relation to the society.

Disclosure of interests

27 A director of a society who is, directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed contract or transaction with the society must disclose fully and promptly the nature and extent of the interest to each of the other directors.

Accountability

- **28** (1) A director referred to in section 27 must account to the society for profit made as a consequence of the society entering or performing the proposed contract or transaction,
 - (a) unless
 - (i) the director discloses the interest as required by section 27,
 - (ii) after the disclosure the proposed contract or transaction is approved by the directors, and
 - (iii) the director abstains from voting on the approval of the proposed contract or transaction, or
 - (b) unless
 - (i) the contract or transaction was reasonable and fair to the society at the time it was entered into, and
 - (ii) after full disclosure of the nature and extent of the interest in the contract or transaction it is approved by special resolution.
 - (2) Unless the bylaws otherwise provide, a director referred to in section 27 must not be counted in the quorum at a meeting of the directors at which the proposed contract or transaction is approved.

Validity of contracts

29 The fact that a director is, in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed contract or transaction, or a contract or transaction, with the society does not make the contract or transaction void, but, if the matters referred to in section 28 (1) (a) or (b) have not occurred, the court may, on the application of the society or an interested person, do any of the following:

- (a) prohibit the society from entering the proposed contract or transaction;
- (b) set aside the contract or transaction;
- (c) make any order that it considers appropriate.

Security and indemnity of officers and directors

- **30** (1) A society may require a director or officer to give the security it considers sufficient for the faithful discharge of duties.
 - (2) A society may, with the approval of the court, indemnify a director or former director of the society or a director or former director of a subsidiary of the society, and his or her heirs and personal representatives, against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, actually and reasonably incurred by him or her, in a civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to which he or she is made a party because of being or having been a director, including an action brought by the society or subsidiary, if
 - (a) he or she acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the society or subsidiary of which he or she is or was a director, and
 - (b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding, he or she had reasonable grounds for believing his or her conduct was lawful.
 - (3) The court may, on application of a society, a director or former director of the society, or a director or former director of a subsidiary of the society, make an order approving an indemnity under this section, and the court may make any further order it considers appropriate.
 - (4) On an application under subsection (3), the court may order notice to be given to any interested person.
 - (5) A society may purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of a director against personal liability incurred by him or her as a director, and sections 27, 28 and 29 do not apply to the purchase or maintenance of that insurance.

Removal of directors

31 A director may be removed from office by special resolution and another director may be elected, or appointed by ordinary resolution, to serve during the balance of the term.

Part 4 — Financial

Investment of society's funds

- **32** (1) The funds and property of a society must be used and dealt with only for its purposes in accordance with its bylaws.
 - (2) A society that has and exercises powers within the scope of section 14 must adhere to prudent standards as defined in section 136 (1) of the *Financial Institutions Act* in investing its funds.
 - (3) A society to which subsection (2) does not apply may invest its funds in investments authorized by its constitution or bylaws, but if that investment is not authorized, the society must invest its funds only as permitted under the provisions of the *Trustee Act* respecting the investment of trust property by a trustee.

Deposit accounts

33 A society must maintain at least one account with a savings institution for the deposit of funds.

Subsidiaries

- **34** (1) A society must not acquire, cause to be incorporated or dispose of its control of a subsidiary without the authorization of a special resolution.
 - (2) If a society acquires or causes to be incorporated a subsidiary, the society must promptly file with the registrar a notice in the form established by the registrar stating the following:
 - (a) the name of the subsidiary;
 - (b) the jurisdiction of incorporation;
 - (c) the date on which control was acquired or the subsidiary was caused to be incorporated.
 - (3) If a notice is filed under subsection (2), the registrar may require further particulars to be filed.
 - (4) When a society ceases to have control of a subsidiary, the society must

promptly file with the registrar a notice in the form established by the registrar stating the name of the former subsidiary and the date the society ceased to have control of the subsidiary.

Borrowing

- **35** (1) Divisions 8, 9 and 10 of Part 3 of the *Business Corporations Act* apply to a society.
 - (2) Membership in a society must not be taken into consideration in determining whether a material conflict of interest exists in a trustee's fiduciary role as trustee.
 - (3) A society must not issue a debenture unless the issuance of the debenture is authorized by a special resolution, which may confer a general power on the directors to issue debentures for a period of not longer than one year from the date the resolution is passed.

Register of indebtedness

- **35.1** (1) Each society must keep a register of its indebtedness in excess of \$5 000 to each director or officer of the society, or an associate of any of them, which register must contain
 - (a) the name of the creditor,
 - (b) the date the indebtedness was incurred,
 - (c) the amount,
 - (d) the interest rate payable, and
 - (e) the due date.
 - (2) A society that contravenes this section commits an offence.

Preferential payment of wages and salary

35.2 (1) If a receiver or receiver manager is appointed on behalf of debentureholders of a society whose debentures are secured by a charge on all or substantially all the assets of the society, or any other person takes possession by or for those debentureholders of the property comprised in or subject to the charge, there must be paid out of assets coming into the hands of the receiver or receiver manager, or other person taking possession, in priority to any claim for principal or interest in respect of the debentures, the wages or salary of any employee, except an employee who is a director, paid on a basis of time or piecework, for services rendered to the society during 3 months before the date of the appointment of the receiver or receiver manager, or other person taking possession, but not exceeding

- \$2 000 for each employee.
- (2) Payments made under this section must be recovered out of the assets of the society that are available for payment of general creditors, to the extent of those assets.

Accounting records

- **36** (1) A society must keep proper accounting records in respect of all its financial and other transactions.
 - (2) Without limiting subsection (1), a society must keep records of the following:
 - (a) all money received and disbursed by the society and the matter in respect of which the receipt and disbursement took place;
 - (b) every asset and liability of the society;
 - (c) every other transaction affecting the financial position of the society.

Inspection by members

37 Unless otherwise provided in the bylaws, the documents, including the accounting records, of a society must be open to the inspection of a director or member on reasonable notice to the society.

Reporting society

- **38** (1) The registrar, having regard to
 - (a) the number of members of a society,
 - (b) the nature of its assets and liabilities,
 - (c) the manner in which it is pursuing its purposes, or
 - (d) any special circumstance, including the receipt by it of government funding,

may order, on the conditions the registrar considers appropriate and subject to the regulations, that the society is or is not a reporting society.

(2) The registrar may vary or rescind an order made under subsection (1) if there is a change in circumstance.

Providing financial statements

39 (1) A reporting society must, at least 10 days before the date of its annual general meeting, provide to the auditor and to each member a copy of the financial statement referred to in section 65 and the report of the auditor.

(1.1) The financial statement and report referred to in subsection (1) must be provided

- (a) in the manner specified by the bylaws of the society, or
- (b) if the bylaws of the society do not specify the manner, by mailing those records
 - (i) to the auditor, and
 - (ii) to each member at the member's latest address as shown on the register of members.
- (2) A reporting society must, on demand by the holder of a debenture of the society, provide the holder with a copy of its latest financial statement and a copy of the report of the auditor.
- (3) A society that is not a reporting society must, on demand by a member or the holder of a debenture of the society, provide the member or the holder with a copy of its latest financial statement.
- (4) If a society is required to send or provide a copy of its financial statement under this section and that society has a subsidiary during the period of the financial statement, it must also send or provide a copy of the subsidiary's financial statement and report of the auditor for the fiscal period ended within the period of the financial statement of the society and the report of the auditor, if any, on the financial statement of the subsidiary.
- (5) [Repealed 2004-27-12.]

Approval by directors

- **40** (1) A society must not issue, publish or circulate a financial statement of the society other than to a director, employee or officer unless it is first approved by the directors and the approval is evidenced by the signatures of 2 directors.
 - (2) A financial statement of a society issued, published or circulated by the society other than to a director, employee or officer
 - (a) must have attached to it every auditor's report made in respect of it, and
 - (b) must not, unless it has been audited and an auditor's report has been made on it, purport to be an audited financial statement.
 - (3) A society that issues, publishes or circulates a financial statement that does not comply with this section commits an offence.

Part 5 — Audit

Auditor

- **41** (1) A reporting society must, and a society that is not a reporting society may, have an auditor.
 - (2) The directors of a reporting society may appoint the first auditor of the society to hold office until the close of the first annual general meeting.
 - (3) A reporting society must, at each annual general meeting, appoint an auditor to hold office until the close of the next annual general meeting, and if at that meeting an appointment is not made, the auditor in office continues as auditor until a successor is appointed.
 - (4) The directors may fill a vacancy in the office of auditor created by resignation, death or otherwise.
 - (5) If an auditor is not appointed for a reporting society, the court may, on the application of a member, debenture holder or creditor of the society, appoint an auditor to hold office until the close of the next annual general meeting and set the remuneration to be paid by the society for the auditor's services.
 - (6) The society must promptly give notice in writing to an auditor of the auditor's appointment.

Professional qualifications

- 42 The auditor of a reporting society must be a person who is
 - (a) a member of, or a partnership whose partners are members of, a provincial or territorial institute or ordre of chartered accountants, or a provincial or territorial organization of chartered professional accountants, within Canada, or
 - (b) certified by the Auditor Certification Board under the *Business Corporations Act*.

Persons not qualified as auditors

- **43** (1) A person must not be the auditor of a reporting society if the person is not independent of the society and of its directors and officers.
 - (2) For the purposes of this section, independence is a question of fact, but the following rules apply:
 - (a) a person is not independent if the person is a director, officer or employee of the society or of a subsidiary of it, or if the person is a

partner, employer or employee of that director, officer or employee or if the person is a member of the immediate family of that director or officer;

- (b) a person is not independent if the person, a member of the person's immediate family, the person's partner or a member of the immediate family of the person's partner beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, an interest in a debt obligation of the society or a share or debt obligation of a subsidiary of the society;
- (c) membership in a society must not be taken into consideration in determining whether an auditor is independent;
- (d) a person is not independent if the person is appointed a trustee of the estate of the society under the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada) or if the person is a partner, employer, employee or member of the immediate family of that trustee.
- (3) For the purposes of this section,
 - (a) the immediate family of the person referred to means the spouse, parent, child or other relative of that person or relative of the spouse of that person who resides in the same home as that person, and
 - (b) a partner of the person referred to means a person with whom that person carries on, in partnership, the profession of accounting.
- (4) An auditor, on becoming aware that his or her appointment as auditor contravenes this section, must
 - (a) eliminate the circumstances that cause the contravention, or
 - (b) resign as auditor.
- (5) If an auditor contravenes this section, an interested party may apply to the court for an order that the auditor be removed on the conditions the court considers appropriate.

Remuneration

- **44** (1) The remuneration of the auditor of a society must be set by ordinary resolution or, if the society so resolves, by the directors.
 - (2) The remuneration of an auditor appointed before the first annual general meeting or to fill a casual vacancy may be set by the directors.

Incumbent auditor

45 A resolution must not be passed at an annual general meeting of a reporting

society appointing an auditor other than the incumbent auditor, unless

- (a) the incumbent auditor declines reappointment, or
- (b) 14 days' notice in writing of the resolution has been given to all persons entitled to receive notice of meetings.

Removal of auditor

- **46** (1) A society may, by ordinary resolution passed at a general meeting called for the purpose, remove an auditor before the expiration of the auditor's term of office, and must, by ordinary resolution at that meeting, appoint another auditor in the auditor's place for the remainder of the term.
 - (2) Before calling a general meeting for the purpose referred to in subsection (1), and not less than 14 days before the mailing of the notice of the meeting, a society must give the auditor
 - (a) written notice of the intention to call the meeting, specifying the date on which the notice of the meeting is proposed to be mailed, and
 - (b) a copy of all material proposed to be sent to members in connection with the meeting.
 - (3) An auditor may make to the society, not less than 3 days before the mailing of the notice of the meeting, representations in writing respecting the proposed removal of the auditor, and the society, at its expense, must forward with the notice of the meeting a copy of those representations to each member entitled to receive the notice.

Annual audit

- **47** (1) The auditor of a society must make the examination that will enable the auditor to report to the members as required under subsection (2).
 - (2) The auditor must
 - (a) make a report to the members on the financial statement, other than the part of it that relates to the period referred to in section 65 (2) (b), that is to be placed before the society at an annual general meeting during the auditor's term of office, and
 - (b) state in the report whether, in the auditor's opinion, the financial statement presents fairly the financial position of the society and the results of its operations for the period under review and, in the case of a financial statement other than the first, does so on a basis consistent with that of the preceding period.

(3) If the opinion contained in the report of the auditor under subsection (2) is qualified, the auditor must state the reasons in the report.

Member may require auditor at meeting

- **48** (1) A member of a society may by notice in writing to the society given not less than 5 days before a meeting at which
 - (a) the financial statement of the society is to be considered, or
 - (b) the auditor is to be appointed or removed,

require the attendance of the auditor at the meeting at the expense of the society.

- (2) If notice is given under subsection (1), the auditor must attend the meeting.
- (3) A member may give notice under subsection (1) whether or not the member is entitled to vote at a meeting of the society.

Inquiries of auditor

49 At a general meeting the auditor, if present, must answer inquiries directed to the auditor concerning the auditor's report.

Reading report

50 At the request of a member attending an annual general meeting, the report of the auditor must be read to the meeting.

Amendment of financial statements and report

- **51** (1) If facts come to the attention of the officers or directors of a society
 - (a) that could reasonably have been determined before the date of the last annual general meeting, and
 - (b) that, if known before the date of the last annual general meeting, would have required a material adjustment to the financial statement presented to the meeting,

the officers or directors must communicate those facts to the auditor who reported to the members, and the directors must amend the financial statement without delay and send it to the auditor.

- (2) If facts described in subsection (1) come to the attention of the auditor,
 - (a) the auditor must, if in the auditor's opinion it is necessary, amend the auditor's report in respect of the financial statement presented to the last annual general meeting so that it complies with this Act, and

(b) the directors must mail to the members a copy of the amended report and a statement explaining the effect of the amendment on the financial position and results of the operations of the society.

Access to records

- **52** The auditor of a society
 - (a) has a right of access at all times to all documents and other property of the society and its subsidiaries, and
 - (b) may require from the directors, officers, members and employees of the society and subsidiaries the information and explanations that, in the auditor's opinion, are necessary to enable the auditor to report as required by this Act.

Powers of auditor

- **53** (1) For the purposes of an audit under this Act, the auditor of a reporting society may, by notice in writing, require the production to the auditor of all documents, securities and cash of the society in the custody of the person to whom the notice is directed and on whom it is served.
 - (2) In the notice served under subsection (1), the auditor must set out
 - (a) the hour and day, being not less than 7 days after the day on which the notice is served, when production is to be made, and
 - (b) the place where production is to be made, which must be either
 - (i) where the documents, securities and cash are usually kept, or
 - (ii) where the documents, securities and cash are required by law to be kept.
 - (3) A person who, without a reasonable excuse, refuses or neglects to comply with a notice served under subsection (1) commits an offence.

Right to attend

- **54** (1) The auditor of a society is entitled to attend a general meeting of the society and to receive every notice and other communication relating to the meeting that a member is entitled to receive.
 - (2) The auditor of a society is entitled to be heard at a general meeting that the auditor attends on any part of the business of the meeting that concerns him or her as auditor or that concerns the financial statement of the society.

Defamation

55 An oral or written statement or report made under this Act by the auditor or former auditor of a society has qualified privilege for the purpose of defamation proceedings.

Part 6 — Members and Meetings

Annual general meeting

- 56 (1) The first annual general meeting of the members of a society must be held not more than 15 months after the date of incorporation, and after that an annual general meeting of the society must be held at least once in every calendar year and not more than 15 months after the adjournment of the previous annual meeting.
 - (2) Despite subsection (1), the registrar may at any time extend the time within which a society is required to hold an annual general meeting.

Place of meeting

57 A general meeting of a society must be held in British Columbia or at a place outside British Columbia that the registrar approves on application by the society.

Requisition for general meeting

- **58** (1) In this section, **"requisitionists"** means the voting members who requisition a general meeting of the society under subsection (2).
 - (2) The directors of a society, on the requisition of 10% or more of the voting members of the society must convene a general meeting of the society without delay.
 - (3) The requisition may consist of several documents in similar form each signed by one or more requisitionists and must
 - (a) state the purpose of the general meeting,
 - (b) be signed by the requisitionists, and
 - (c) be delivered or sent by registered mail to the address of the society.
 - (4) If, within 21 days after the date of the delivery of the requisition, the directors do not convene a general meeting, the requisitionists, or a majority of them, may themselves convene a general meeting to be held within 4 months after the date of the delivery of the requisition.

(5) A general meeting convened by the requisitionists must be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as general meetings are convened by the directors.

- (6) In the case of a reporting society, unless the members otherwise resolve at a general meeting called by the requisitionists,
 - (a) the society must reimburse the requisitionists for the expenses actually and reasonably incurred by them in requisitioning, calling and holding the meeting, and
 - (b) each director, who was in default in not calling the meeting as required under subsection (2), must pay the society his or her prorated share of the amount paid by the society to reimburse the requisitionists under paragraph (a).
- (7) For the purposes of this section, a member who has the right to vote, whether at a general meeting or in a system of delegate or indirect voting or voting by mail allowed under this Act, is a voting member.

Court may call

59 If a society fails to hold a general meeting in accordance with this Act, the regulations or its bylaws, the court may, on the application of a member of the society, call or direct the calling of that general meeting.

Notice

60 A society must give not less than 14 days' written notice of a general meeting to those members entitled to receive notice of a general meeting, but those members may waive or reduce the period of notice for a particular meeting by unanimous consent in writing.

Quorum

61 Unless the bylaws provide for a greater number, the quorum for the transaction of business at a general meeting of a society is 3 persons.

Voting

62 A member is not entitled to vote on a resolution unless the member is a voting member in good standing in accordance with the bylaws.

Proxies

63 A permanent proxy or proxy entitling a person or member to vote at other than

one meeting and any adjournment is void.

Financial statements

- **64** (1) The directors of a society that is not a reporting society must place the following before each annual general meeting of the society:
 - (a) the financial statement required by this section;
 - (b) the report of the auditor, if any;
 - (c) the report of the directors to the members;
 - (d) any further information respecting the society required by the bylaws or the regulations.
 - (2) The financial statement must be for the period
 - (a) beginning on the date of incorporation or, if the society has completed a financial year, at the end of the last completed financial year, and
 - (b) ending not more than 6 months before the annual general meeting.
 - (3) The financial statement must consist of
 - (a) a statement of receipts and disbursements for the period, or
 - (b) a statement of income and expenditure and a statement of surplus for the period, and a balance sheet as of the end of the period,

but the statements need not be identified by those names.

Financial statements for reporting societies

- **65** (1) The directors of a reporting society must place the following before each annual general meeting of the society:
 - (a) the financial statements required by this section;
 - (b) the report of the auditor;
 - (c) if the society has a subsidiary, a copy of the financial statement of the subsidiary for a fiscal period ending within the period of the financial statement of the society and a copy of the auditor's report on the financial statement of the subsidiary;
 - (d) the report of the directors to the members;
 - (e) any further information respecting the society required by the bylaws or the regulations.

(2) The financial statements must be comparative statements relating to

- (a) the period
 - (i) beginning on the date of incorporation or, if the society has completed a financial year, at the end of the last completed financial year, and
 - (ii) ending not more than 6 months before the annual general meeting, and
- (b) the period, if any, that was the financial year immediately before that last completed financial year.
- (3) Despite subsection (2), the financial statement may relate only to the period ending not more than 6 months before the annual general meeting if the reason for the omission of the statement in respect of the period covered by the previous financial statement is set out in the financial statement to be placed before the meeting.
- (4) The financial statements must consist of
 - (a) a statement of income and expenditure for each period,
 - (b) a statement of surplus for each period,
 - (c) a statement of source and application of funds for each period, and
 - (d) a balance sheet as of the end of each period,

but the statements need not be identified by those names.

(5) Despite subsection (4) (c), a statement of source and application of funds may be omitted if the reason for the omission is set out in the financial statement.

Special resolutions

- **66** (1) A society must file with the registrar an original and one copy of each special resolution, which special resolutions must be in the form established by the registrar.
 - (2) After a special resolution is filed under subsection (1), the registrar must retain one copy of the special resolution and must return the other copy to the society, certified as having been filed with the registrar.
 - (3) A special resolution, other than one changing the number of directors or removing a director, does not take effect until it is filed with the registrar.

Other resolutions

67 If a copy of an ordinary resolution or a director's resolution is required by this Act

to be filed, section 66 applies.

Filing annual report

68 A society must, within 30 days after each annual general meeting, file with the registrar an annual report in the form established by the registrar.

Copies of constitution and bylaws

69 A society must provide to a member, on request, free of charge or, if so resolved by the directors, on payment of not more than \$1, a copy of its constitution and bylaws.

Register of members

- 70 (1) A society must keep a register of its members.
 - (2) A society must enter in the register the names of the applicants for incorporation and the name of every other person admitted as a member of the society, together with the following particulars of each member:
 - (a) the full name and resident address;
 - (b) the date on which the person is admitted as a member;
 - (c) the date on which the person ceases to be a member;
 - (d) the class of membership, if provision is made for classes.
 - (3) A society that fails to comply with this section commits an offence.

Part 7 — Conversion of a Society

Repealed

71-73 [Repealed 2011-29-138.]

Conversion to company

- **74** (1) Subject to subsection (2), a society may, with the consent of the registrar and in accordance with the regulations, be converted to a company and, for that purpose, the following provisions of the *Business Corporations Act* apply to the society as if it were a special Act corporation within the meaning of that Act:
 - (a) section 266 except
 - (i) in subsection (1), the words "if it has the consent of the minister to do so, and", and

- (ii) subsections (3) (b) and (6);
- (b) sections 267 and 268.
- (2) This section does not apply to a society with a charitable purpose referred to in section 134 (3) of this Act.

Part 8 — Extraprovincial Societies

Extraprovincial society registration

- **75** (1) An extraprovincial society may apply for registration under this Act.
 - (2) The registrar may require an extraprovincial society that carries on operations in British Columbia, other than an extraprovincial society that is authorized to carry on insurance business under the *Financial Institutions Act*, to apply for registration under this Act, and that society must, unless registration is granted, cease to operate in British Columbia, and the registrar must set the date after which it must cease to operate.
 - (3) [Repealed 2004-27-15.]
 - (4) An extraprovincial society must not be registered unless the name of the proposed society is reserved under Division 2 of Part 2 of the *Business Corporations Act* as it applies for the purposes of this Act.

Procedure for registration

- **76** (1) An application for registration of an extraprovincial society must be made to the registrar according to a form established by the registrar and must be accompanied by the documents the registrar requires.
 - (2) If an extraprovincial society that is registered under this Act has a purpose referred to in section 14, the provisions of this Act that are applicable to a society having any such purpose are applicable to the extraprovincial society.
 - (3) After receipt of an application referred to in subsection (1), the registrar may
 - (a) issue a certificate showing that the society is registered under this Act as an extraprovincial society, and stating the place of formation or incorporation, and
 - (b) publish a notice of the registration in the prescribed manner.
 - (4) The registrar may attach to a certificate of registration the conditions and limitations that seem to the registrar advisable.
 - (5) An extraprovincial society must comply with and observe the conditions and

limitations attached to its certificate of registration.

(6) Unless the registrar otherwise orders, the limitations, prohibitions and conditions applicable to incorporation of societies under section 2 apply to the registration of an extraprovincial society,

(7) After investigation, the registrar may refuse registration of an extraprovincial society.

Attorney for service

- 77 (1) The registrar must require an extraprovincial society to appoint, within a time specified by the registrar, a person resident in British Columbia as its attorney authorized and directed on its behalf to accept service of process in all proceedings by or against the society in British Columbia and to receive all lawful notices to the society.
 - (2) The society must, within one week after the appointment, file a copy of the appointment with the registrar.
 - (3) If the person appointed attorney ceases to act, the society must
 - (a) within one week after the attorney ceases to act, appoint a new attorney, and
 - (b) within one week after the appointment, file a copy of the appointment with the registrar.
 - (4) The name and address of the attorney must be stated in the copy of an appointment filed under this section.
 - (5) If the address of the attorney changes, the society must file a notice of the change with the registrar.

Return to registrar

- **78** An extraprovincial society registered under this Act must file the following with the registrar:
 - (a) a verified copy of an amendment to its constitution and bylaws or corresponding instrument within one month after the amendment takes effect;
 - (b) the notice of address required by section 10;
 - (c) the annual report required by section 68, with the changes the circumstances require;
 - (d) a notice of change of directors in the form established by the

registrar.

Suspension and revocation of registration

- 79 Subject to any condition that the registrar considers advisable, the registrar may
 - (a) for good cause, suspend or revoke the registration of an extraprovincial society under this Act, and
 - (b) cancel a suspension or revocation.

Agents prohibited

80 A person must not act as agent for an extraprovincial society that is required by the registrar to apply for registration under this Act unless the society holds a subsisting certificate of registration under this Act.

Limitations on unregistered extraprovincial society

- **81** An extraprovincial society that is not registered as required by this Act is not capable of
 - (a) maintaining a proceeding in a court in British Columbia in respect of a contract made in whole or in part in British Columbia in the course of or in connection with its operation, or
 - (b) acquiring or holding land or an interest in land in British Columbia or registering title to land under the *Land Title Act*.

Application

82 This Act applies to the operations of an extraprovincial society registered under this Act.

Part 9 — Special Procedures

Imperfect compliance

- 83 If there has been imperfect compliance with
 - (a) a condition in the membership certificate as to the proof of claim for the payment of benefits by a member, or
 - (b) any other matter or thing required to be done by the member with respect to a claim for the payment of benefits

and a consequent forfeiture or avoidance of all or part of the certificate, the court,

if it considers it inequitable that the benefits should be forfeited or avoided on that ground, may relieve against the forfeiture or avoidance on the terms it considers just.

Investigation of society

- **84** (1) If it appears to the registrar that a society
 - (a) exists for an illegal purpose,
 - (b) carried on chiefly as a social club is not conducted in a proper manner or as a genuine club,
 - (c) within the scope of section 14 is not conducted in a proper manner or is or is likely to become insolvent, or
 - (d) is otherwise acting in a manner contrary to the public interest,

the registrar must report the facts to the minister, who may appoint a person to investigate the affairs and conduct of the society and to make a written report to the minister of the investigator's findings.

- (2) The investigator may
 - (a) examine on oath a director, manager, officer or agent of the society or other person in relation to the affairs of the society,
 - (b) administer an oath accordingly, and
 - (c) require the production of all documents, securities and cash of the society, and of all relevant documents.
- (3) A director, manager, officer or agent of the society or other person who on examination under this section refuses to answer a question relating to the affairs of the society or to produce any documents, securities or cash in that person's custody commits an offence.
- (4) On a report from the registrar or after an investigation, and subject to the conditions the minister thinks advisable, the minister may
 - (a) order that the society
 - (i) discontinue an illegal action,
 - (ii) if a social club, conduct itself in a proper manner,
 - (iii) if within the scope of section 14, conduct its affairs in a proper manner or take measures to meet its obligations, or
 - (iv) cease acting in a manner contrary to the public interest, and
 - (b) subject to the conditions the minister thinks advisable, suspend any of the powers of the society.

(5) A society that contravenes an order made under subsection (4) commits an offence and a director, manager, officer or agent of the society who knowingly participates or acquiesces in the contravention commits an offence.

Court may remedy irregularities

- **85** (1) Despite anything in this Act, if an omission, defect, error or irregularity occurs in the conduct of the affairs of a society by which
 - (a) a breach of this Act occurs,
 - (b) there is default in compliance with the constitution or bylaws of the society, or
 - (c) proceedings at, or in connection with, a general meeting, a meeting of the directors of the society or an assembly purporting to be such a meeting are rendered ineffective,

the court may

- (d) either of its own motion or on the application of an interested person, make an order
 - (i) to rectify or cause to be rectified or to negate or modify or cause to be modified the consequences in law of the omission, defect, error or irregularity, or
 - (ii) to validate an act, matter or thing rendered or alleged to have been rendered invalid by or as a result of the omission, defect, error or irregularity, and
- (e) give the ancillary or consequential directions it considers necessary.
- (2) The court must, before making an order, consider the effect of it on the society and its directors, officers, members and creditors.
- (3) An order made under subsection (1) does not prejudice the rights of a third party who has acquired those rights for valuable consideration without notice of the omission, defect, error or irregularity cured by the order.

Part 10 — Occupational Titles Protection

Definition

- 86 In this Part, "society" means a society that
 - (a) has at least 50 members in good standing, and
 - (b) has as one of its purposes the representation of the interests of an

occupation or profession.

Application of Part

87 This Part does not apply to a society if it ceases to be a society under this Act.

Registration

- **88** (1) A society may apply to the registrar for registration under this Part by
 - (a) having in its bylaws provisions respecting
 - (i) qualifications for admission to membership or a class of membership,
 - (ii) courses of study and examinations for members or applicants for membership,
 - (iii) the conduct of members, ethics and standards of practice, and
 - (iv) suspension, expulsion or other penalties for misconduct, incapacity or incompetence of members,
 - (b) completing the application form established by the registrar, and
 - (c) submitting the prescribed application fee.
 - (2) If the registrar is satisfied that subsection (1) has been complied with, and the registrar considers that it is in the public interest, the registrar must register the society under this Part unless the registrar considers the name of the society or the initials associated with that name to be so similar to the name or initials of another similar organization that confusion will result.
 - (3) On registration of a society under this Part, the registrar may designate
 - (a) a word or combination of words that identifies a person as a qualified member of that society, and
 - (b) initials that identify the society or a person as a qualified member of that society.

Registration applications prohibited

88.1 Despite section 88, a society may not apply to the registrar for registration under this Part after December 31, 2015.

Effect of registration

89 (1) If a society is registered under this Part, no person other than a qualified

member of that society has the right to use, in connection with an occupation or profession the person practises that is similar to the occupation or profession represented by that society, the name of that society or the word or combination of words or initials designated under section 88 (3), in a way that identifies the person as a qualified member of that society.

(2) Registration of a society under this Part does not signify that the society, its qualifications for admission to membership or its qualified members are in any way endorsed by the government.

Injunction

90 If a person contravenes section 89 (1), the society may apply for injunctive relief from the court.

Cancellation by registrar

- 91 The registrar may cancel the registration of a society under this Part if
 - (a) the registrar considers that continued registration is no longer in the public interest,
 - (b) the society ceases to have 50 members in good standing,
 - (c) the society alters its constitution so that the purposes of the society no longer represent the interests of an occupation or profession, or
 - (d) without the registrar's approval, the society repeals a provision of its bylaws referred to in section 88 (1).

Other remedies not affected

92 Registration of a society under this Part does not affect any other remedy that a person would have if the society had not been registered under this Part.

Repealed

93 [Repealed 2011-29-140.]

Part 11 — General

Repealed

94 [Repealed 2004-27-20.]

Registrar has no obligation to ensure accuracy or compliance

94.1 Nothing in this Act requires the registrar to ensure that a record filed with the registrar, or the information contained in it, is accurate or complete or meets the requirements of this Act, the regulations or any other enactment.

Inspection and copies of documents

- 95 (1) On payment of the fees set out in Schedule C, a person may
 - (a) inspect the documents filed in the office of the registrar relating to a society,
 - (b) require a copy or extract of a document or part of it, and
 - (c) require a copy or extract to be certified as a true copy.
 - (2) A document purporting to be issued and signed by the registrar or a person designated as a signing officer by the Lieutenant Governor in Council or by the registrar must be received in evidence and, unless the contrary is shown, is deemed to have been so issued, and it is not necessary to prove the handwriting or official position of the registrar or person designated by the Lieutenant Governor in Council or by the registrar.
 - (3) If a person requests a society to provide a copy of a financial statement of the society referred to in section 64 or 65 and pays the fee charged for that copy under subsection (5) of this section, the society must provide that person with a copy of that financial statement promptly after receipt of the request and payment.
 - (4) A copy of a financial statement referred to in subsection (3) must be provided in the manner agreed to by the society and the person seeking to obtain the copy or, in the absence of such an agreement,
 - (a) must, if the person seeking to obtain the copy so requests, be provided by mailing it to that person, or
 - (b) may, in any other case, be provided to the person seeking to obtain the copy by making it available for pick-up at the address of the society.
 - (5) A society may, for any financial statement made available by it under subsection (3), charge a reasonable fee that is not greater than the prescribed amount.

Remedies on denial of copies

95.1 (1) A person who claims to be entitled under section 95 (3) to receive a copy of a financial statement of the society referred to in section 64 or 65 may apply in writing to the registrar for an order under subsection (2) of this section if the society does not provide that person with a copy of the financial statement.

(2) If, on the application of a person referred to in subsection (1), it appears to the registrar that the society has, contrary to section 95 (3), failed to provide the applicant with a copy of a financial statement of the society referred to in section 64 or 65, the registrar may order the society to provide to the registrar whichever of the following the society considers appropriate:

- (a) a certified copy of the financial statement;
- (b) an affidavit of a director or officer of the society setting out why the applicant is not entitled to obtain a copy of the financial statement.

(3) The registrar must

- (a) set out in any order made under subsection (2) of this section an explanation of the basis on which the applicant claims to be entitled to obtain a copy of the applicable financial statement, and
- (b) furnish a copy of that order to the society and the applicant.
- (4) The society referred to in an order made under subsection (2) must comply with that order within 15 days after the date of the order.
- (5) If the society provides to the registrar a certified copy of the financial statement required under subsection (2) (a), the registrar must furnish the certified copy of the financial statement to the applicant.
- (6) If the society provides an affidavit of a director or officer to the registrar under subsection (2) (b), the registrar must furnish the affidavit to the applicant.
- (7) An applicant under subsection (1) may, on notice to the society, apply to the court for an order that the applicant be provided with a copy of a financial statement of the society referred to in section 64 or 65, if
 - (a) an affidavit respecting the financial statement is furnished to the applicant by the registrar under subsection (6) of this section, or
 - (b) the society fails to comply with subsection (4).
- (8) Without limiting the power of the registrar, the court may, on an application under subsection (7) of this section, make the order it considers appropriate and may, without limitation, do one or more of the following:
 - (a) make an order that a certified copy of a financial statement of the society referred to in section 64 or 65 be provided to the applicant, within the time specified by the order;
 - (b) make an order directing the society to change the location of the address of the society to a location that the court considers appropriate;
 - (c) order the society to pay to the applicant damages in an amount that

the court considers appropriate;

- (d) order the society to pay to the applicant the applicant's costs of and related to the application.
- (9) An order may be made under subsection (8) in addition to a legal proceeding, conviction or penalty for an offence.

Appeals

- **96** (1) In this section, "**decision**" means a decision, refusal or order by the registrar under this Act.
 - (2) Subject to subsection (3), a person affected by a decision under this Act may appeal it to the court.
 - (3) No appeal lies under this section in respect of a decision of the registrar under section 88 (2) or (3).
 - (4) The registrar is a party to an appeal of a decision to the court.
 - (5) An appeal under subsection (2) is an appeal on the record.
 - (6) For the purposes of subsection (5), the record consists of the following:
 - (a) the record of oral evidence, if any, before the registrar;
 - (b) copies or originals of documentary evidence before the registrar;
 - (c) other things received as evidence by the registrar;
 - (d) the registrar's decision, refusal or order;
 - (e) the written reasons for the decision, if any.
 - (7) An appeal under subsection (2) must be commenced not more than 30 days after the earlier of the following:
 - (a) the mailing to the appellant, at the appellant's most recent address known to the registrar, of a notice of the decision to be appealed;
 - (b) actual notice to the appellant of the decision to be appealed.

Hearings

97 Unless otherwise expressly specified in this Act or the regulations, it is not necessary for the minister, the registrar or any other person to hold a hearing or to receive submissions as a condition precedent to the exercise of a power, function or duty under this Act.

Fees

98 Fees must be paid to the registrar in respect of the matters mentioned in Schedule C.

Power to make regulations

- **99** (1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations referred to in section 41 of the *Interpretation Act*.
 - (2) Without limiting subsection (1), the Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations as follows:
 - (a) prescribing the method of inspection of societies' books of accounts and records;
 - (b) prescribing the minimum membership fees and dues payable to a society by its members;
 - (c) prescribing the form and content of financial statements;
 - (d) prescribing the procedure and requirements for the conversion of a society to a company;
 - (e) respecting the manner and form in which, or the method by which, records or information may be provided or submitted to, or certified by, the registrar;
 - (f) prescribing records and information that must be provided or submitted to the registrar in, or in conjunction with, any record provided to the registrar or submitted to the registrar for filing, with power to prescribe different information and records for different situations;
 - (g) respecting the manner in which, or the method by which, records may be mailed, sent or provided, and the requirements that a person must meet to mail, send, provide or receive information or records in an electronic or other format for the purposes of this Act;
 - (h) respecting the manner in which the registrar is to publish notices that the registrar is required or permitted to publish under this Act, including prescribing different manners of publication for different notices;
 - (i) prescribing the maximum amount that may be charged as a fee for providing a copy of a financial statement under section 95 (3).
 - (3) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may amend, repeal or add to the schedules and a reference to the schedules is a reference to the schedules as added to or replaced.

Application of Act

- **100** (1) This Act applies to a society to which the former Act applied in the same manner as if the society had been incorporated under this Act.
 - (2) If the bylaws of an existing society provide for an extraordinary resolution, they must be taken to mean a special resolution.
 - (3) The registrar may make the orders the registrar considers necessary in order to effect, generally or in respect of a particular society or class of societies, the transition from the application of the former Act to the application of this Act.
 - (4) An order made by the Lieutenant Governor in Council under the former Act remains in force, until revoked by the Lieutenant Governor in Council, for the same period of time during which it would have remained in force but for this Act.

Part 12 — Cancellation, Winding Up, Dissolution and Restoration

Division 1 — Cancellation by Lieutenant Governor in Council

Lieutenant Governor in Council may cancel incorporation

101 The Lieutenant Governor in Council, by order, may cancel the incorporation of a society and declare it to be dissolved.

Division 2 — Dissolution and Cancellation by Registrar

Dissolutions and cancellations of registrations by registrar

102 (1) If

- (a) a society or an extraprovincial society has for 2 years failed to file with the registrar the annual report or any other return, notice or document required by this Act to be filed by it,
- (b) a society or an extraprovincial society has failed to pay, within 10 days after default in payment of the fine, any fine imposed on it under this Act.
- (c) a society or an extraprovincial society has failed to comply with an order of the registrar, or
- (d) the registrar has reasonable cause to believe that an extraprovincial society has ceased to carry on operations in British Columbia,

the registrar must mail to the society or extraprovincial society a letter notifying it

of its failure under paragraph (a), (b) or (c) or of the registrar's belief under paragraph (d), and of the registrar's powers under subsection (3).

- (2) If a society or an extraprovincial society is being wound up, and
 - (a) the registrar has reasonable cause to believe that no liquidator is acting or that the society is fully wound up, or
 - (b) the returns required to be made by the liquidator have not been made for a period of 3 consecutive months,

the registrar must mail to the society a letter inquiring whether a liquidator is acting or whether the society is fully wound up, or notifying the society of the failure to file returns or of the registrar's belief and of the registrar's powers under subsection (3).

- (3) If, within one month after the registrar mails the letter referred to in subsection
- (1) or (2), the registrar does not receive a response that
 - (a) indicates that the failure has been or is being remedied,
 - (b) notifies the registrar that the extraprovincial society continues to carry on operations in British Columbia, or
 - (c) is otherwise satisfactory to the registrar,

the registrar may publish, in the Gazette or in any other prescribed manner, a notice that, at any time after the expiration of one month after the date of publication of the notice, unless cause to the contrary is shown, the society will be dissolved or, in the case of an extraprovincial society, its registration will be cancelled.

- (4) At any time after one month after the date of publication of the notice referred to in subsection (3), the registrar, unless cause to the contrary is shown to him or her, may dissolve the society or, in the case of an extraprovincial society, cancel its registration.
- (5) A letter mailed under this section may be addressed to the address of the society or, in the case of an extraprovincial society, to the address of its attorney.

Dissolution by request

- 103 The registrar may dissolve a society if the society
 - (a) by ordinary resolution requests the registrar to dissolve the society, and
 - (b) files with the registrar a copy of the resolution and an affidavit of 2 or more directors or, if the society has only one director, an affidavit of

that director, proving what disposition the society has made of its assets and that the society has no debts or liabilities.

Defunct extraprovincial society

- **104** (1) If an extraprovincial society files with the registrar a notice that the society has ceased to carry on operations in British Columbia, the registrar may cancel its registration.
 - (2) On receipt by the registrar from the registrar of companies or other similar official of the jurisdiction in which an extraprovincial society was incorporated of notice that the extraprovincial society has ceased to exist, the registrar must cancel the extraprovincial society's registration.

Division 3 — Voluntary Winding Up

Voluntary winding up requires special resolution

105 Subject to section 106, a society may be wound up voluntarily if the society so resolves by special resolution.

Solvency of society

- 106 (1) If it is proposed to wind up a society voluntarily, the majority of the directors, before calling the general meeting at which the special resolution for the winding up of the society is to be proposed, must make an affidavit declaring that
 - (a) they have made a full inquiry into the affairs of the society, and
 - (b) they are of the opinion that the society will be able to pay its debts in full within the period, not exceeding 12 months from the commencement of the winding up, specified in the affidavit.
 - (2) An affidavit referred to in subsection (1) must
 - (a) be made within 5 weeks before the date on which the members pass the special resolution for the voluntary winding up of the society, and
 - (b) contain a statement of the assets and liabilities of the society as at the latest practicable date.
 - (3) A copy of the affidavit must be
 - (a) filed with the registrar before the meeting, and
 - (b) presented to the meeting at which the special resolution for the voluntary winding up of the society is to be proposed.
 - (4) If a society is wound up in accordance with a special resolution passed within

5 weeks after the affidavit is made but the society's debts are not paid or provided for in full within the period stated in the affidavit, it is presumed, until the contrary is shown, that the person swearing the affidavit did not have reasonable grounds for his or her opinion.

Commencement of voluntary winding up

107 A voluntary winding up commences when the special resolution to wind up is passed.

Appointment of liquidator

108 A society must, at the general meeting at which the special resolution to wind up is passed, appoint one or more liquidators for the purpose of winding up the affairs and distributing the assets of the society.

Division 4 — Winding Up by Court Order

Winding up by court order

- 109 (1) A society may be wound up by court order on the application of
 - (a) the society,
 - (b) a member, director, creditor, trustee for debentureholders or receiver manager of the society, or
 - (c) any other person who, in the discretion of the court, is a proper person to make an application.
 - (2) Before hearing an application by a creditor to wind up a society by court order, the court may require the creditor to give security for the costs of the application.
 - (3) The court may order that the society be wound up
 - (a) if the court thinks it just and equitable to do so, or
 - (b) when an event occurs on the occurrence of which the constitution or bylaws provide that the society is to be dissolved.

Court may wind up society on application of member

110 If a member makes an application for an order to wind up a society on the ground that it is just and equitable that the society be wound up, the court, if it is of the opinion that the applicant is entitled to relief by winding up the society, may make an order for winding up.

Commencement of winding up by court order

111 A winding up by court order commences on the date of the order.

Court must appoint liquidator

112 If the court makes an order that a society be wound up, the court, by the same or a subsequent order, must appoint one or more liquidators for the purpose of winding up the affairs and distributing the assets of the society.

Division 5 — Liquidators

Qualifications of liquidator

- 113 (1) A person not qualified to become or act as a receiver or receiver manager under section 64 of the *Personal Property Security Act* is not qualified to become or act as a liquidator, except that, with the consent in writing of all the members of a society, a person referred to in section 64 (2) (e) of the *Personal Property Security Act* who is licensed as a trustee under the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (Canada) is qualified to become or act as a liquidator of the society.
 - (2) A person who has been appointed as a liquidator and who is not, or who ceases to be, qualified to act as a liquidator must,
 - (a) in a voluntary winding up, promptly call a general meeting to replace himself or herself in accordance with section 116 (a), or
 - (b) in a winding up by court order, promptly bring the disqualification to the attention of the court and the person on whose application the liquidator was appointed.

Resignation and removal of liquidator

- **114** (1) A liquidator appointed in a voluntary winding up may resign from that office.
 - (2) A liquidator appointed in a voluntary winding up may be removed as liquidator by a special resolution passed at a general meeting of the members of the society, notice of which has been given to the liquidator and the creditors of the society.

Liquidator ceasing to act must file notice

115 A liquidator who resigns, is removed from office or, for any other reason, ceases to act must, within 7 days after the resignation, removal or cessation, file with the registrar a notice in the form established by the registrar.

Filling vacancy in office of liquidator

116 If a vacancy in the office of liquidator occurs by death, resignation or otherwise,

(a) in a voluntary winding up, the society in general meeting may fill the vacancy and, for that purpose, a general meeting

- (i) may be called by any member or, if there were more liquidators than one, by any continuing liquidator, and
- (ii) must be held in the manner required by the bylaws, or
- (b) in a winding up by court order, the court may fill the vacancy on application of any person mentioned in section 109 (1).

Remuneration of liquidator

- **117** (1) The remuneration of a liquidator,
 - (a) in a voluntary winding up, may be set by the society in general meeting, or
 - (b) in a winding up by court order, must be set by the court.
 - (2) If the remuneration referred to in subsection (1) (a) is not set within 30 days after the liquidator's appointment, or if the liquidator is dissatisfied with the amount, the liquidator may apply to the court to set or review the liquidator's remuneration, and the court may make any order it considers appropriate.

Validity of acts of liquidator

118 An act of a liquidator is valid, despite any defect in the liquidator's appointment or qualifications.

Filing and publication of notice of appointment

- **119** (1) A liquidator must, within 10 days after his or her appointment as liquidator, file with the registrar
 - (a) a notice of the appointment in a form established by the registrar, and
 - (b) if not already filed,
 - (i) if the winding up is a voluntary winding up, a copy of the special resolution to so wind up, or
 - (ii) if the winding up is by court order, a certified copy of the order.
 - (2) A liquidator must, within 7 days after changing his or her address, file with the registrar notice of the new address.
 - (3) At the commencement of the winding up, the liquidator must publish in the

Gazette notice that the society has resolved to wind up voluntarily or that the court has made an order that the society be wound up by court order, as the case may be.

Division 6 — Conduct of Winding Up

Effect of resolution or order for winding up

- **120** If a society is being wound up,
 - (a) the society, from the commencement of the winding up, must cease to carry on the society's operations except so far as is required, in the opinion of the liquidator, for the society's beneficial winding up, but the corporate status and corporate powers and capacity of the society continue until the society is dissolved, and
 - (b) on the appointment of the liquidator, the powers of the directors cease, except so far as the liquidator approves their continuance.

Meeting of creditors

- **121** (1) A liquidator must, within 14 days after his or her appointment as liquidator,
 - (a) mail to every person who appears to the liquidator to be a creditor of the society a notice that a meeting of the creditors of the society will be held on a date, being not less than 21 days and not more than 28 days after the appointment, at an hour and at a place in British Columbia specified in the notice, and
 - (b) advertise notice of the meeting
 - (i) in the Gazette, and
 - (ii) in a local newspaper circulating in the district where the address of the society is located or where the principal place of operations of the society in British Columbia was located.
 - (2) The liquidator must present to the meeting of creditors referred to in subsection (1) a full statement of the position of the affairs of the society, including a list of the creditors of the society and the estimated amount of their claims, and the creditors are at liberty to discuss any matter arising out of the statement.

Creditor must commence action on claim

122 If the liquidator of a society gives notice in writing by registered letter to a creditor of the society that the debt or claim of the creditor is disputed or rejected, the creditor may commence an action in respect of the debt or claim within 3 months

after the notice is given and, in default of the commencement of the action within that time, the debt or claim of the creditor is forever barred.

Custody of property

- **123** (1) The liquidator of a society, subject to any restrictions or directions imposed or given by the court, must
 - (a) take into the liquidator's custody or under the liquidator's control all the property and things in action to which the society is or appears to be entitled, and all the society's records, documents and instruments,
 - (b) use, subject to this Act, the liquidator's own discretion in realizing the assets of the society and distributing them among the creditors and persons entitled to receive them,
 - (c) keep proper accounting records,
 - (d) keep proper minutes of proceedings at meetings and of other matters relating to the winding up,
 - (e) cause to be stated on every invoice, order for goods and business letter
 - (i) issued by the liquidator or on the liquidator's behalf, and
 - (ii) on or in which the name of the society appears

that the society is in liquidation, and

- (f) describe himself or herself as the liquidator of the society.
- (2) If a winding up continues for more than one year, the liquidator must
 - (a) call a general meeting of the society at the end of the first year and at the end of each succeeding year after the commencement of the winding up, or as soon as may be convenient,
 - (b) present to the general meeting an account of the liquidator's acts and dealings and of the conduct of the winding up during the preceding year, and
 - (c) file with the registrar, within 7 days after the date on which the meeting is held, a verified summary of the liquidator's receipts and payments during that year.
- (3) A liquidator must comply with the provisions of this Act relating to the records, documents and instruments of the society.

Powers of liquidator

124 (1) Subject to this section, a liquidator, so far as may be necessary for the beneficial winding up of the affairs and distribution of the assets of a society, has the powers of the directors and officers, and may exercise the powers of the society that are not required by this Act to be exercised by the society in general meeting.

- (2) In a voluntary winding up, the society, by ordinary resolution, may direct that the liquidator not do certain specified things without
 - (a) the approval of a general meeting of the society,
 - (b) the written consent of certain specified members, or
 - (c) the written consent of a certain specified number of members.
- (3) In any winding up, the court may impose, either generally or with respect to certain matters, restrictions on the exercise of the powers of a liquidator.
- (4) Until required for distribution, cash balances held by the liquidator of a society may be invested as follows:
 - (a) in an interest bearing account with any savings institution;
 - (b) as permitted under the provisions of the Trustee Act respecting the investment of trust property by a trustee,

and any dividends or interest received from the investments form part of the assets of the society.

- (5) If several liquidators are appointed, every power given to a liquidator may be exercised
 - (a) by the one or more of them that may be determined at the time of their appointment or subsequently, or
 - (b) in the absence of any determination, by any 2 or more liquidators.

Society with insurance purposes

- 125 Prepaid membership dues of members of a society having a purpose not prohibited by section 14 that are paid in advance in respect of a period extending beyond the date of the order appointing a liquidator must be
 - (a) treated as a debt of the society, and
 - (b) paid proportionately with the other unpreferred claims,

and benefits are not payable to those members for an accident, illness or other cause arising after the date of the order.

Sale of society for shares or debentures

126 (1) If a society is being wound up and its assets are to be distributed among the members of the society and it is proposed to transfer or sell the whole or part of the society's operations or property to a corporation, the liquidator of the society being wound up may, with the approval of a special resolution of that society that confers on the liquidator either a general authority or an authority in respect of a particular arrangement, in compensation or part compensation for the transfer or sale,

- (a) receive shares, debentures or other similar interests in the corporation for distribution among the members of the society being wound up, or
- (b) enter into any other arrangement by which the members of the society being wound up may, instead of or in addition to receiving cash, shares, debentures or other similar interests, participate in the profits of or receive any other benefit from the corporation.
- (2) No special resolution referred to in subsection (1) is invalid for the purposes of this section merely because the resolution is passed before or concurrently with a resolution for winding up the society or for appointing the society's liquidator.

Powers of court

- **127** If a society is being wound up, the court may,
 - (a) on application by a member or director of the society, order a general meeting or meeting of the creditors of the society to be held and conducted in the manner the court considers appropriate,
 - (b) on application by any of the persons mentioned in section 109 (1), make an order for the audit or the inspection of the accounts, books and papers of, or in the possession of, the liquidator that the court considers appropriate,
 - (c) on application by the liquidator, set a time within which creditors are to prove their debts or claims or be excluded from the benefit of any distribution to be made by the liquidator,
 - (d) in a voluntary winding up, appoint a liquidator on application by a member if
 - (i) there is no liquidator acting, and
 - (ii) it is impractical or impossible to hold a general meeting of the society for the purpose of filling the vacancy,
 - (e) on cause shown by any of the persons mentioned in section 109 (1),

remove a liquidator and fill any vacancy in the office of the liquidator,

- (f) on terms and conditions the court considers appropriate, release a liquidator who has
 - (i) resigned,
 - (ii) been removed from office, or
 - (iii) in the liquidator's opinion, fully wound up the affairs of the society,
- (g) on application by any of the persons mentioned in section 109 (1), confirm, reverse or modify any act or decision of a liquidator and make any order the court considers appropriate,
- (h) if a liquidator does not faithfully perform the liquidator's duties, inquire into the matter and take the action the court considers appropriate,
- (i) on application by any of the persons mentioned in section 109 (1),
 - (i) examine into the conduct of any person who has taken part in the formation or promotion of the society or any person who is a past or present director, officer, receiver, receiver manager, liquidator or member of the society, if it appears that that person
 - (A) has misapplied, retained or become liable or accountable for any money or property in relation to the society, or
 - (B) has become liable or accountable for any breach of trust in relation to the society, and
 - (iii) compel the person referred to in subparagraph (i) to repay or to restore the money or property, or any part of the money or property, with interest at the rate the court considers appropriate, or to contribute the sum to the assets of the society by way of compensation in respect of the misapplication, retainer or breach of trust, as the court considers appropriate,

and this provision applies even if the conduct complained of is conduct for which the person may be liable to prosecution,

- (j) on terms and conditions the court considers appropriate, make an order staying the proceedings either absolutely or for a limited time, and
- (k) on application by the liquidator, give directions in relation to any matter arising under the winding up.

Duty to assist liquidator

128 (1) In this section, **"affiliate"** has the same meaning as in the *Business Corporations Act*.

- (2) A person who is a present or former director, receiver manager, officer, employee, banker, auditor, member or agent of, or a present or former receiver of property of, a society that is being wound up or of any affiliate of it must,
 - (a) on inquiry by the liquidator, fully and truly inform the liquidator, to the best of the person's knowledge and belief, of all the property of the society, and how, to whom, for what consideration and when the society disposed of any part of the property, except any part disposed of in the ordinary course of the operations of the society,
 - (b) on request of the liquidator, deliver to the liquidator, or as the liquidator directs, all the property of the society in the custody or under the control of the person, and
 - (c) on request of the liquidator, deliver to the liquidator, or as the liquidator directs, every record, including every document, instrument and accounting record, in the custody or under the control of the person and belonging to the society.

Final meeting and dissolution

- 129 (1) As soon as the affairs of a society are fully wound up, the liquidator must
 - (a) prepare an account of the winding up, showing how the winding up was conducted and how the property of the society was disposed of, and
 - (b) call a final general meeting of the society for the purpose of presenting the account and giving any explanation of the account.
 - (2) The final general meeting referred to in subsection (1) must be called by publishing notice of the meeting in the Gazette not less than 14 days before the meeting, specifying the date, time, place and object of the meeting, and no other notice is necessary.
 - (3) If, within 1/2 hour after the time appointed for the final general meeting, a quorum of members is not present, the liquidator must adjourn the meeting to the same day in the next week and, if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 1/2 hour after the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting must proceed and is deemed to have been properly held.
 - (4) The liquidator, not more than 7 days after the final general meeting, must file with the registrar a copy of the account and a return in the form established by the registrar.

Dissolution on completion of winding up

130 (1) The registrar, on receiving the copy of the account and the return referred to in section 129, must file them.

- (2) Three months after the filing referred to in subsection (1), the society is dissolved.
- (3) On application by the liquidator or by any person mentioned in section 109 (1), the court may make an order deferring the date on which the dissolution of the society is to take effect for the time the court considers appropriate.
- (4) No order made under this section is effective unless a certified copy of the order is filed with the registrar before the society is dissolved under subsection (2).

Unclaimed or undistributed assets

- **131** (1) In this section, "administrator" has the same meaning as in the *Unclaimed Property Act*.
 - (2) If a liquidator has or controls any unclaimed or undistributed assets or money of the society that have remained unclaimed or undistributed for more than 6 months after the date on which any distribution by the liquidator became payable, the liquidator must promptly pay or deliver the assets or money to the administrator with a statement showing the full names and last known addresses of the persons appearing to be entitled to the assets or money and the amounts to which they appear to be respectively entitled, and the administrator must give the liquidator a receipt, which receipt is an effectual discharge to the liquidator.
 - (3) The administrator, in respect of any money or assets paid or delivered to the administrator under this section, may invest the money or realize the assets and invest the proceeds, and the money so received or realized by the administrator is deemed to be an unclaimed money deposit under the *Unclaimed Property Act*.

Disposal of books and papers of society

132 If a society has been dissolved, the liquidator is responsible for the care and custody of the society's records, including documents, instruments and accounting records, for 2 years after the date of dissolution, but not longer.

Discharge by court order

133 A court order releasing a liquidator discharges the liquidator from all liability in respect of any act done or default made by the liquidator in the administration of the affairs of the society or otherwise in relation to the liquidator's conduct in that capacity, but that order may be revoked on proof that it was obtained by fraud or

by suppression or concealment of any material fact.

Division 7 — Disposal of Assets

Disposal of assets

- 134 (1) On the winding up and dissolution of a society with a charitable purpose, the assets must not be distributed among the members, and unless the constitution, the bylaws or a resolution of the members provides for the payment, transfer and delivery of the assets remaining, after all debts have been paid or provision for payment has been made, to a charitable institution or to trustees on trust for a charitable purpose, the assets remaining must be paid, transferred or delivered to the Minister of Finance.
 - (2) On the winding up and dissolution of a society without a charitable purpose, unless the constitution, the bylaws or a resolution of the members provides otherwise, after all debts have been paid or provision for payment has been made, the assets remaining must be paid, transferred or delivered to the Minister of Finance.
 - (3) In this section, a society having any of the following purposes has a charitable purpose:
 - (a) the relief of poverty;
 - (b) the advancement of education;
 - (c) the advancement of religion;
 - (d) any other purpose beneficial to the community.
 - (4) If a society is wound up, the assets remaining, after all debts have been paid or provision for payment has been made, must be paid, transferred or delivered to the persons entitled to receive those assets.

Division 8 — After Dissolution

Liabilities survive

135 The liability of every director, officer, liquidator and member of a society that is dissolved, or of an extraprovincial society that has had its registration cancelled, continues and may be enforced as if the society had not been dissolved, or the registration of the extraprovincial society had not been cancelled.

Publication

136 The registrar must publish, in the Gazette or in any other prescribed manner,

notice that a society or an extraprovincial society has been dissolved or has had its registration cancelled, and the date the action took place.

Division 9 — Restoration

Restoration to register

- 137 (1) If a society has been dissolved or the registration of an extraprovincial society has been cancelled under this Act, the court, if it is satisfied that it is just that the society or extraprovincial society be restored to the register, may make an order restoring the society or extraprovincial society to the register
 - (a) not more than 10 years after the date of the dissolution or cancellation,
 - (b) on application by a liquidator, by a member, by a creditor of the society or extraprovincial society or by any other interested person, and
 - (c) subject to the conditions and on the terms the court considers appropriate.
 - (2) If a society or an extraprovincial society is restored to the register under subsection (1), the society is deemed to have continued in existence, or the registration of the extraprovincial society is deemed not to have been cancelled, and proceedings may be taken as might have been taken if the society had not been dissolved, or the registration of the extraprovincial society had not been cancelled.
 - (3) The court may make an order under subsection (1) restoring a society or an extraprovincial society to the register for a limited period and, after the expiration of that period, the society must promptly be dissolved or, in the case of an extraprovincial society, its registration cancelled, by the registrar.
 - (4) The court must not make an order under this section
 - (a) unless notice of the application under subsection (1) and a copy of any document filed in support of it have been sent to the registrar and the registrar has consented to the restoration, and
 - (b) until one week after the applicant has published notice of the application under subsection (1), in one issue of the Gazette, and has mailed notice of that application to the address of the society or, in the case of an extraprovincial society, to the address of its attorney.
 - (5) A society that has as a purpose one of those mentioned in section 2 (1) must not be restored to the register without the written consent, if any, required under that section.

Power of court

138 (1) In an order made under section 137, the court may give directions and make provisions it considers appropriate for placing the society or extraprovincial society and every other person in the same position, as nearly as may be, as they would have been had the society not been dissolved or had the registration of the extraprovincial society not been cancelled.

(2) Unless the court orders otherwise, an order under subsection (1) is without prejudice to the rights of parties acquired before the date on which the society or extraprovincial society is restored to the register.

Change of name on restoration

139 In any order made under section 137, the court may require that the society or extraprovincial society be restored to the register under a different name that is acceptable to the registrar.

Filing and publication

- **140** (1) No order made under section 137 is effective until a certified copy has been accepted for filing by the registrar
 - (2) The registrar must not accept for filing any order made under section 137 unless
 - (a) the registrar receives proof to his or her satisfaction that the terms and conditions precedent of the order, if any, have been complied with, and
 - (b) the registrar's requirements are fulfilled.
 - (3) After filing an order made under section 137, the registrar must
 - (a) publish, in the Gazette or in any other prescribed manner, notice of the restoration of a society or an extraprovincial society, showing the date of restoration, and
 - (b) issue a certificate of restoration.

Escheat

141 Despite the provisions of this Act, title to, or any interest in, land that has escheated or that is deemed to have escheated to the government under section 4 of the *Escheat Act* is not affected in any way by an order made under section 137 of this Act, except as provided in section 4 of the *Escheat Act*.

Part 13 — Offences

Offences

- **142** (1) Section 5 of the *Offence Act* does not apply to section 89 of this Act.
 - (2) A person commits an offence who
 - (a) is a director of a society and makes an affidavit under section 106 without having reasonable grounds for the opinion that the society will be able to pay its debts in full within the period specified in the affidavit,
 - (b) acts as a liquidator and is not qualified to act as a liquidator,
 - (c) is a liquidator and contravenes any provision of Part 12, or
 - (d) contravenes section 128.
 - (3) Subject to subsection (4), a person commits an offence who makes or assists in making a statement in a document that is required or permitted to be filed with the registrar under this Act if the statement
 - (a) is, at the time and in light of the circumstances under which it is made, false or misleading in respect of any material fact, or
 - (b) omits any material fact, the omission of which makes the statement false or misleading.
 - (4) No person is guilty of an offence under subsection (3) if that person
 - (a) did not know that the statement was false or misleading, and
 - (b) with the exercise of reasonable diligence, could not have known that the statement was false or misleading.
 - (5) A person who commits an offence under subsection (2) or (3) is liable,
 - (a) in the case of a person other than an individual, to a fine of not more than \$5 000, or
 - (b) in the case of an individual, to a fine of not more than \$2 000.

Schedules

Schedule A

[Schedule repealed 2004-27-23.]

Schedule B

SOCIETY ACT

Bylaws of (Name of Society)

Part 1 — Interpretation

- 1 (1) In these bylaws, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - "directors" means the directors of the society for the time being;
 - " **Society Act** " means the *Society Act* of British Columbia from time to time in force and all amendments to it;
 - "registered address" of a member means the member's address as recorded in the register of members.
 - (2) The definitions in the *Society Act* on the date these bylaws become effective apply to these bylaws.
- 2 Words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa, and words importing a male person include a female person and a corporation.

Part 2 — Membership

- 3 The members of the society are the applicants for incorporation of the society, and those persons who subsequently become members, in accordance with these bylaws and, in either case, have not ceased to be members.
- 4 A person may apply to the directors for membership in the society and on acceptance by the directors is a member.
- 5 Every member must uphold the constitution and comply with these bylaws.
- 6 The amount of the first annual membership dues must be determined by the directors and after that the annual membership dues must be determined at the annual general meeting of the society.
- 7 A person ceases to be a member of the society
 - (a) by delivering his or her resignation in writing to the secretary of the society or by mailing or delivering it to the address of the society,
 - (b) on his or her death or, in the case of a corporation, on dissolution,
 - (c) on being expelled, or
 - (d) on having been a member not in good standing for 12 consecutive months.
- 8 (1) A member may be expelled by a special resolution of the members passed at a general meeting.
 - (2) The notice of special resolution for expulsion must be accompanied by a brief statement of the reasons for the proposed expulsion.
 - (3) The person who is the subject of the proposed resolution for expulsion must be given an opportunity to be heard at the general meeting before the special resolution is put to a vote.
- 9 All members are in good standing except a member who has failed to pay his or her current annual membership fee, or any other subscription or debt due and owing by the member to the society, and the member is not in good standing so long as the debt remains unpaid.

Part 3 — Meetings of Members

- 10 General meetings of the society must be held at the time and place, in accordance with the *Society Act*, that the directors decide.
- 11 Every general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, is an extraordinary general

meeting.

- 12 The directors may, when they think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
- 13 (1) Notice of a general meeting must specify the place, day and hour of the meeting, and, in case of special business, the general nature of that business.
 - (2) The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to, or the non-receipt of a notice by, any of the members entitled to receive notice does not invalidate proceedings at that meeting.
- 14 The first annual general meeting of the society must be held not more than 15 months after the date of incorporation and after that an annual general meeting must be held at least once in every calendar year and not more than 15 months after the holding of the last preceding annual general meeting.

Part 4 — Proceedings at General Meetings

- 15 Special business is
 - (a) all business at an extraordinary general meeting except the adoption of rules of order, and
 - (b) all business conducted at an annual general meeting, except the following:
 - (i) the adoption of rules of order;
 - (ii) the consideration of the financial statements;
 - (iii) the report of the directors;
 - (iv) the report of the auditor, if any;
 - (v) the election of directors;
 - (vi) the appointment of the auditor, if required;
 - (vii) the other business that, under these bylaws, ought to be conducted at an annual general meeting, or business that is brought under consideration by the report of the directors issued with the notice convening the meeting.
- 16 (1) Business, other than the election of a chair and the adjournment or termination of the meeting, must not be conducted at a general meeting at a time when a quorum is not present.
 - (2) If at any time during a general meeting there ceases to be a quorum present, business then in progress must be suspended until there is a quorum present or until the meeting is adjourned or terminated.
 - (3) A quorum is 3 members present or a greater number that the members may determine at a general meeting.
- 17 If within 30 minutes from the time appointed for a general meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened on the requisition of members, must be terminated, but in any other case, it must stand adjourned to the same day in the next week, at the same time and place, and if, at the adjourned meeting, a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time appointed for the meeting, the members present constitute a quorum.
- 18 Subject to bylaw 19, the president of the society, the vice president or, in the absence of both, one of the other directors present, must preside as chair of a general meeting.
- 19 If at a general meeting
 - (a) there is no president, vice president or other director present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, or
 - (b) the president and all the other directors present are unwilling to act as the chair,

the members present must choose one of their number to be the chair.

- 20 (1) A general meeting may be adjourned from time to time and from place to place, but business must not be conducted at an adjourned meeting other than the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
 - (2) When a meeting is adjourned for 10 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of the original meeting.
 - (3) Except as provided in this bylaw, it is not necessary to give notice of an adjournment or of the business to be conducted at an adjourned general meeting.
- 21 (1) A resolution proposed at a meeting need not be seconded, and the chair of a meeting may move or propose a resolution.
 - (2) In the case of a tie vote, the chair does not have a casting or second vote in addition to the vote to which he or she may be entitled as a member, and the proposed resolution does not pass.
- 22 (1) A member in good standing present at a meeting of members is entitled to one vote.
 - (2) Voting is by show of hands.
 - (3) Voting by proxy is not permitted.
- 23 A corporate member may vote by its authorized representative, who is entitled to speak and vote, and in all other respects exercise the rights of a member, and that representative must be considered as a member for all purposes with respect to a meeting of the society.

Part 5 — Directors and Officers

- 24 (1) The directors may exercise all the powers and do all the acts and things that the society may exercise and do, and that are not by these bylaws or by statute or otherwise lawfully directed or required to be exercised or done by the society in a general meeting, but subject, nevertheless, to
 - (a) all laws affecting the society,
 - (b) these bylaws, and
 - (c) rules, not being inconsistent with these bylaws, that are made from time to time by the society in a general meeting.
 - (2) A rule, made by the society in a general meeting, does not invalidate a prior act of the directors that would have been valid if that rule had not been made.
- 25 (1) The president, vice president, secretary, treasurer and one or more other persons are the directors of the society.
 - (2) The number of directors must be 5 or a greater number determined from time to time at a general meeting.
- 26 (1) The directors must retire from office at each annual general meeting when their successors are elected.
 - (2) Separate elections must be held for each office to be filled.
 - (3) An election may be by acclamation, otherwise it must be by ballot.
 - (4) If a successor is not elected, the person previously elected or appointed continues to hold office.
- 27 (1) The directors may at any time and from time to time appoint a member as a director to fill a vacancy in the directors.
 - (2) A director so appointed holds office only until the conclusion of the next annual general

- meeting of the society, but is eligible for re-election at the meeting.
- 28 (1) If a director resigns his or her office or otherwise ceases to hold office, the remaining directors must appoint a member to take the place of the former director.
 - (2) An act or proceeding of the directors is not invalid merely because there are less than the prescribed number of directors in office.
- 29 The members may, by special resolution, remove a director, before the expiration of his or her term of office, and may elect a successor to complete the term of office.
- 30 A director must not be remunerated for being or acting as a director but a director must be reimbursed for all expenses necessarily and reasonably incurred by the director while engaged in the affairs of the society.

Part 6 — Proceedings of Directors

- 31 (1) The directors may meet at the places they think fit to conduct business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings and proceedings, as they see fit.
 - (2) The directors may from time to time set the quorum necessary to conduct business, and unless so set the quorum is a majority of the directors then in office.
 - (3) The president is the chair of all meetings of the directors, but if at a meeting the president is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the vice president must act as chair, but if neither is present the directors present may choose one of their number to be the chair at that meeting.
 - (4) A director may at any time, and the secretary, on the request of a director, must, convene a meeting of the directors.
- 32 (1) The directors may delegate any, but not all, of their powers to committees consisting of the director or directors as they think fit.
 - (2) A committee so formed in the exercise of the powers so delegated must conform to any rules imposed on it by the directors, and must report every act or thing done in exercise of those powers to the earliest meeting of the directors held after the act or thing has been done.
- 33 A committee must elect a chair of its meetings, but if no chair is elected, or if at a meeting the chair is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting, the directors present who are members of the committee must choose one of their number to be the chair of the meeting.
- 34 The members of a committee may meet and adjourn as they think proper.
- 35 For a first meeting of directors held immediately following the appointment or election of a director or directors at an annual or other general meeting of members, or for a meeting of the directors at which a director is appointed to fill a vacancy in the directors, it is not necessary to give notice of the meeting to the newly elected or appointed director or directors for the meeting to be constituted, if a quorum of the directors is present.
- 36 A director who may be absent temporarily from British Columbia may send or deliver to the address of the society a waiver of notice, which may be by letter, telegram, telex or cable, of any meeting of the directors and may at any time withdraw the waiver, and until the waiver is withdrawn,
 - (a) a notice of meeting of directors is not required to be sent to that director, and
 - (b) any and all meetings of the directors of the society, notice of which has not been given to that director, if a quorum of the directors is present, are valid and effective.
- 37 (1) Questions arising at a meeting of the directors and committee of directors must be decided

by a majority of votes.

- (2) In the case of a tie vote, the chair does not have a second or casting vote.
- 38 A resolution proposed at a meeting of directors or committee of directors need not be seconded, and the chair of a meeting may move or propose a resolution.
- 39 A resolution in writing, signed by all the directors and placed with the minutes of the directors, is as valid and effective as if regularly passed at a meeting of directors.

Part 7 — Duties of Officers

- 40 (1) The president presides at all meetings of the society and of the directors.
 - (2) The president is the chief executive officer of the society and must supervise the other officers in the execution of their duties.
- 41 The vice president must carry out the duties of the president during the president's absence.
- 42 The secretary must do the following:
 - (a) conduct the correspondence of the society;
 - (b) issue notices of meetings of the society and directors;
 - (c) keep minutes of all meetings of the society and directors;
 - (d) have custody of all records and documents of the society except those required to be kept by the treasurer;
 - (e) have custody of the common seal of the society;
 - (f) maintain the register of members.
- 43 The treasurer must
 - (a) keep the financial records, including books of account, necessary to comply with the *Society Act*, and
 - (b) render financial statements to the directors, members and others when required.
- 44 (1) The offices of secretary and treasurer may be held by one person who is to be known as the secretary treasurer.
 - (2) If a secretary treasurer holds office, the total number of directors must not be less than 5 or the greater number that may have been determined under bylaw 25 (2).
- 45 In the absence of the secretary from a meeting, the directors must appoint another person to act as secretary at the meeting.

Part 8 — Seal

- 46 The directors may provide a common seal for the society and may destroy a seal and substitute a new seal in its place.
- 47 The common seal must be affixed only when authorized by a resolution of the directors and then only in the presence of the persons specified in the resolution, or if no persons are specified, in the presence of the president and secretary or president and secretary treasurer.

Part 9 — Borrowing

48 In order to carry out the purposes of the society the directors may, on behalf of and in the name of the society, raise or secure the payment or repayment of money in the manner they decide, and, in particular but without limiting that power, by the issue of debentures.

- 49 A debenture must not be issued without the authorization of a special resolution.
- 50 The members may, by special resolution, restrict the borrowing powers of the directors, but a restriction imposed expires at the next annual general meeting.

Part 10 — Auditor

- 51 This Part applies only if the society is required or has resolved to have an auditor.
- 52 The first auditor must be appointed by the directors who must also fill all vacancies occurring in the office of auditor.
- 53 At each annual general meeting the society must appoint an auditor to hold office until the auditor is re-elected or a successor is elected at the next annual general meeting.
- 54 An auditor may be removed by ordinary resolution.
- 55 An auditor must be promptly informed in writing of the auditor's appointment or removal.
- 56 A director or employee of the society must not be its auditor.
- 57 The auditor may attend general meetings.

Part 11 — Notices to Members

- 58 A notice may be given to a member, either personally or by mail to the member at the member's registered address.
- 59 A notice sent by mail is deemed to have been given on the second day following the day on which the notice is posted, and in proving that notice has been given, it is sufficient to prove the notice was properly addressed and put in a Canadian post office receptacle.
- 60 (1) Notice of a general meeting must be given to
 - (a) every member shown on the register of members on the day notice is given, and
 - (b) the auditor, if Part 10 applies.
 - (2) No other person is entitled to receive a notice of a general meeting.

Part 12 — Bylaws

- 61 On being admitted to membership, each member is entitled to, and the society must give the member without charge, a copy of the constitution and bylaws of the society.
- 62 These bylaws must not be altered or added to except by special resolution.

Schedule C

SOCIETY ACT

Table of Fees

		\$
1	For incorporation, amalgamation or restoration of a society	100.00
2	For filing a notice, list, return or other document required by this Act.	15.00
3	For a certificate of true copy or extract	25.00
4	For each search conducted through the B.C. OnLine information service using a person's own computer terminal	7.00*

5	For each search conducted by a person using a computer terminal provided by the government	8.00*
6	For each search conducted by government personnel	10.00
7	Item 6 does not apply to a search made as part of the review by the registrar of an application to hold or reserve a name.	
8	For registration, amalgamation or restoration of an extraprovincial society	100.00
9	For a copy of, or extract from, a document, for every page or part of a page	.50
10	For changing the name or registering a change of name of an extraprovincial society	50.00
11	For filing an annual report	25.00
12	For applying for registration under Part 10	300.00
13	For priority service when offered, except the filing of encumbrances	100.00
14	For pre-vetting of documents to be filed with the registrar	100.00
15	For filing and certification of resolutions as required by this Act	50.00

^{*} In addition to a fee marked by an asterisk, a further operator fee of \$1.50, plus any tax imposed under Part IX [Goods and Services Tax] of the Excise Tax Act (Canada) applicable to the operator fee, may be charged for any transaction done by electronic means from a location outside a government office or at a government office by a person who is not a government employee.

Copyright (c) Queen's Printer, Victoria, British Columbia, Canada